I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The Petitioner is Laboratory Corporation of America ("LabCorp"). 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals issued a published opinion, Wuth v. 

LabCorp, 2015 WL 5009407 (Wn. App. 8/24/15), which is attached. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. "Wrongful birth" and "wrongful life" causes of action were 
created in Harbeson v. Parke-Davis, Inc., 98 Wn.2d 460, 656 P.2d 483 
(1983) to provide compensation for so-called "defective" children who 
suffered injuries caused by prescription drugs. 

Should these causes of action be abolished because they 
devalue people with disabilities, or, in the alternative, 
should they be limited to cases where negligent conduct (as 
opposed to a hereditary genetic condition) has caused 
physical injury? 

Does this Court's holding in McKernan v. Aasheim, 
102 Wn.2d 411,687 P.2d 850 (1984), that a parent's 
damages for emotional injury from the birth of a child 
cannot be determined with reasonable certainty, apply 
equally to damages claimed for a "defective" child? 

2. Since 1891, punitive damages have been consistently 
disapproved as contrary to Washington public policy. Does Washington's 
robust opposition to punitive damages necessitate a new trial when a jury 
is asked to impose punitive damages in order to deter future conduct? 

3. A party moving to strike an expert must provide notice and 
an opportunity to be heard, and that expert's qualifications must be 
evaluated by the trial court on summary judgment or the appellate court in 
its de novo review. Does due process require that such notice be 
unambiguous and also that the expert's qualifications actually be 
considered before the expert can be stricken, when the result is that a party 
is precluded from presenting its theory of the case to a jury? 

- 1 -
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(This Court is considering a related issue in Keck v. Collins, No. 90357-3, 
and heard oral argument on February 12, 2015. 1 If review is not granted 
in this case on this issue, LabCorp respectfully requests that this Court 
stay consideration of this issue pending the resolution of Keck.) 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

At issue is $50 million awarded for the birth of Oliver Wuth, a 

child with a hereditary genetic condition that causes disabilities. The 

Wuth family sued for damages under theories of "wrongful birth" and 

"wrongful life" because their treating physician failed to order the correct 

genetic test and the hospital failed to send their family history to the 

laboratory. They also sued LabCorp for not calling the physician to 

suggest that he order a different test. Wuth, at *3-*5. 

The Wuth family's attorney urged the jury to award exactly 

$20,628,306 in special damages to Oliver under a "wrongful life" theory 

based upon the most favorable interpretation of conflicting evidence 

presented during trial. Counsel concurrently asked the jury to consider 

deterrence when calculating their award to the Wuths. The jury awarded 

$25 million-well above the evidence presented. Addressing Oliver's 

parents' claim under a "wrongful birth" theory, the jury was asked to 

evaluate compensation for emotional injury only to the extent that it is 

1 At issue in Keck is whether the Court of Appeals properly reviewed de 
novo a trial court's ruling striking as untimely an expert affidavit 
submitted in opposition to a motion for summary judgment. 
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offset by the countervailing emotional benefits. The Court of Appeals 

observed that the record contains evidence "that Oliver's birth brought 

both joy and significant anguish to the Wuth family" supporting either a 

"net increase" or a "net loss" to his parents, 2 yet the jury awarded the 

parents net loss emotional damages of $25 million. 

These round sums of $25 million and $25 million, which were 

evenly divided 50/50 between LabCorp and the other remaining 

defendant, 3 were awarded immediately after the jury heard discussions 

about deterrence ("deterrence is important as a reminder that we can never 

elevate the business of medicine over the practice of medicine"4
) that the 

Court of Appeals has confirmed constituted an improper request for 

punitive damages. Despite errors identified by the Court of Appeals,5 the 

verdict was affirmed in a published opinion.6 

2 Wuth, WL 5009407, at *12. 
3 The verdict was also against Defendant Valley Medical Center (the 
hospital that failed to send the necessary reports, including the father's 
genetic report, to LabCorp (Wuth, at **3-4)), which settled with the Wuths 
after trial and before oral argument at the Court of Appeals. The treating 
doctor, Defendant Dr. James Harding (who performed the procedure 
without a genetic counselor and failed to order the FISH test needed to 
detect the subtle translocation (Wuth, at *3)) settled with the Wuths before 
trial. 
4 Wuth, at *26. 
5 !d.; see id. at *23 (trial court erred in allowing the Wuths to argue that a 
relative's condition was indicative of Oliver's future needs). 
6 Dr. Harding entered into a high-low settlement agreement with the 
Wuths before trial. See King County Sub. No. 841 (filed 3/26/2014). 
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• 

V. ARGUMENT 

This Court should grant review because this $50 million "wrongful 

birth" and "wrongful life" case presents issues of substantial public 

interest that should be determined by this Court related to: (1) whether the 

outdated torts of "wrongful birth" and "wrongful life" should be abolished 

as a matter of public policy, or at least limited in scope to permit only 

damages that can be proven with reasonable certainty in cases involving 

actual injuries, and whether damages case law addressing damages for 

emotional injury from the birth of a child applies to children with 

disabilities; (2) whether, given Washington's longstanding ban on punitive 

damages, the remedy for a jury being asked to award damages in order to 

deter future conduct is a new trial; and (3) whether due process requires 

notice and an opportunity to be heard before an expert can be deemed 

unqualified, and whether a party precluded from presenting its defense as 

a consequence of an improperly-excluded expert was deprived of its 

constitutional right to a jury trial. RAP 13 .4(b )(3) & ( 4 ). Review should 

also be granted because the Court of Appeals' published opinion conflicts 

with decisions ofthis Court and of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(l) 

& (2). 

Valley settled with the Wuths shortly before oral argument in the Court of 
Appeals. See King County Sub. No. 897 (filed 5/29/2015). 
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A. "Wrongful Birth" and "Wrongful Life" Causes of Action 
Should be Abolished or, in the Alternative, Limited 

1. Issue of Substantial Public Interest Under RAP 
13.4(b)(4): The Outdated Nature of 1983's "Wrongful 
Birth" and "Wrongful Life" Torts 

The tort of "wrongful birth" was created in Harbeson v. Parke-

Davis, Inc., 98 Wn.2d 460, 656 P.2d 483 (1983) to address injuries that 

occurred in utero caused by a negligently-prescribed drug. In doing so, 

Harbeson identified "the birth of a defective child" as "an actionable 

injury." !d. at 473. 

"Wrongful life" is explained in Harbeson as "the child's 

equivalent of the parents' wrongful birth action." !d. at 478. Washington 

is one of only three states that, in the early 1980s, established a child's 

right to recover special damages if the child can prove that "but for" the 

health care provider's negligent advice or treatment of his or her parents, 

he or she would not have been born. Id. at 464, 478.7 No other state has 

recognized a "wrongful life" tort, and many have banned it. 8 

7 See Procanik v. Cillo, 478 A.2d 755, 762 (N.J. 1984); see also Turpin v. 
Sortini, 31 Cal. 3d 220, 643 P.2d 954, 965 (1982). 
8 "With only three exceptions ... courts have consistently rejected 
wrongful life actions." Wendy F. Hensel, The Disabling Impact of 
Wrongful Birth and Wrongful Life Actions, 40 Harv. C.R.-C.L. L. Rev. 
141, 160-61 (2005); see Ronan Perry, It's a Wonderful Life, 93 Cornell L. 
Rev. 329, 336-37 (2008) ("Wrongful life claims have been denied by the 
courts in more than twenty states: Alabama, Arizona, Colorado, Delaware, 
Florida, Georgia, Illinois, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maryland, 
Massachusetts, Nevada, New Hampshire, New York, North Caroline, 
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In the decades that have passed since the Harbeson decision, 

society's view of these delicate issues has shifted. The significant strides 

toward integration and acceptance in American society made by people 

with disabilities during the past 30 years stand in sharp contrast with the 

notion of labeling a child as "defective" and devaluing him or her because 

of a disability. These actions require that juries "evaluate whether a 

particular disability is so horrible, from the nondisabled perspective, as to 

make plausible the choice of abortion contraconception by the parent, or 

non-existence by the disabled child. "9 

Passage of the Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA"), 

42 U.S.C. §§ 12111, in 1990-seven years after Harbeson-"represented 

for many the first public acknowledgement that discrimination against 

people with disabilities is immoral and intolerable even when committed 

by private individuals." 10 At the time Harbeson was decided, even the 

Washington Constitution described people with disabilities as "blind, deaf, 

dumb, or otherwise defective youth," "the insane," and "idiotic[.]" 11 

During the past decade, scholars have opined that "the main 

Ohio, South Carolina, Texas, Virginia, West Virginia, Wisconsin, and 
Wyoming. The legislatures of several states have [also] explicitly barred 
wrongful life claims."). 
9 Hensel, 40 Harv. C.R.-C.L. L. Rev. at 160-61. 
10 !d. (footnote omitted). 
11 Former Wash. Const. art. XIII§ 1, amended by amend. 83, 1988 H.R.J. 
Res. 4231 at 1553. 
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problem that most people with disabilities face is not their bodies but 

social oppression."12 The existence ofthese torts "tends to discount, or 

even nullify, the value of life with a disability." 13 Evaluating whether 

these torts should be abolished in light of modem public policy and 

developments in medicine and genetic testing is an issue of substantial 

public interest that should be determined by this Court, warranting review 

under RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

2. Issue of Substantial Public Interest Under RAP 
13.4(b )( 4): Limitation of "Wrongful Birth" and 
"Wrongful Life" Torts to Cases Involving Physical 
Injury 

The facts and circumstances giving rise to this Court's recognition 

of the torts of "wrongful birth" and "wrongful life" in Harbeson confirm 

that the holding was tailored to cases involving prenatal injuries. See 

Harbeson, 98 Wn.2d 460. Harbeson involved two children, described 

throughout the opinion as "defective," born to a mother who took the 

prescription drug Dilantin during her pregnancies. !d. The Harbeson 

opinion, which responded to certified questions, was predicated on 

previously-established findings that Dilantin "was a proximate cause of 

12 Anne Bloom & Paul Steven Miller, Blindsight: How We See Disabilities 
in Tort Litigation, 86 Wash. L. Rev. 709, 717 (2011). 
13 Darpana M. Sheth, Better Of! Unborn? An Analysis of Wrongful Birth 
and Wrongful Life Claims Under the Americans with Disabilities Act, 
73 Tenn. L. Rev. 641, 648 (2006). 
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the defects and anomalies suffered by [the otherwise-healthy Harbeson 

children.]" !d. at 463-64. Even so, the compensable injury identified in 

Harbeson is "the birth of a defective child." !d. at 473. This broad 

language has led to the extension of these torts to dissimilar cases 

involving children with disabilities caused by hereditary conditions. 

Legal scholars have described these developments as being akin to 

a public endorsement of eugenics for the purpose of avoiding life with 

disabilities. 14 Addressing these concerns is an issue of substantial public 

interest that should be determined by this Court. To that end, whether 

"wrongful birth" and "wrongful life" causes of actions should be available 

only in cases involving an actual resulting physical injury is an issue this 

Court should review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

3. RAP 13.4(b)(1) Conflict With McKernan v. Aasheim, 
102 Wn.2d 411, 687 P.2d 850 (1984) & Issue of 
Substantial Public Interest Under RAP 13.4(b)(4): 
"Wrongful Birth" General Damages Must Be 
Established With Reasonable Certainty, Regardless of 
Whether the Child Has a Disability 

The compensation available for the parents' wrongful birth claim 

under Harbeson was for their emotional injury, and any award must be 

offset by countervailing emotional benefits. Harbeson, 98 Wn.2d at 475 

14 Kerry T. Cooperman, The Handicapping Effect of Judicial Opinions in 
Reproductive Tort Cases: Correcting the Legal Perception of Persons 
with Disabilities, 68 Md. L. Rev. 1, 13 (2008); see Hensel, 40 Harv. C.R.
C.L. L. Rev., at 177. 
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(adopting the "benefits" rule). Then, just one year later, this Court 

rejected the "benefits rule": 

To recover under the "benefits" rule, the parents of the 
unplanned child must prove to the jury that the cost of 
rearing the child outweighs the benefits of parenthood. 

*** 

After careful consideration, however, we have come to the 
conclusion that the "benefits" rule cannot be applied in this 
state. 

McKernan v. Aasheim, 102 Wn.2d 411,418-19, 687 P.2d 850 (1984) 

(addressing damages available under "wrongful birth" following a 

negligently-performed sterilization). The McKernan holding is based on 

the well-established rule that "[d]amages may not be recovered unless they 

are established with reasonable certainty," and "[ u ]ncertainty as to the fact 

of damage is a ground for denying liability." !d. at 419 (citing Wenzler & 

Ward Plumbing & Heating Co. v. Sellen, 53 Wn.2d 96, 98, 330 P.2d 1068 

(1958)). Because it is impossible to establish the emotional benefits that 

will be conferred by a child, such damages cannot be calculated: "The 

child may tum out to be loving, obedient and attentive, or hostile, unruly 

and callous." !d. at 419-20. Another reason McKernan disallowed "net 

loss" emotional damages was out of concern for the associated emotional 

harm inflicted on the child of parents who are called upon to "prove their 

child was more trouble than it was worth." !d. at 421. 
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Despite the strong statements of Washington public policy set forth 

in McKernan, the Harbeson "benefits" rule was applied in this case to 

allow recovery of damages for the parents' net emotional injury, 

calculated by weighing emotional injury against countervailing emotional 

benefits. The Court of Appeals dismissed McKernan as "inapposite" and 

"easily distinguished" because McKernan involved a "healthy" child. 

Wuth, at * 10. But the Harbeson "benefits" rule does not involve an 

assessment of a child's abilities or accomplishments, but instead the 

child's emotional impact on his or her parents. It is the impossibility of 

the task of weighing emotions, coupled with the negative impact on the 

child in violation of public policy, that McKernan confirmed was 

impermissible. McKernan, 102 Wn.2d at 421. Whether it is parents who 

did not want a healthy child and get one, or parents who did not want a 

child with a disability and get one, the concerns about ascertaining the net 

emotional benefit or loss set forth in McKernan apply with equal force. 

Application of the Harbeson "benefits" rule in this case conflicts 

with the holding and statements of Washington public policy announced in 

McKernan, endorsing a "net loss" emotional damages award that 

McKernan confirmed cannot be determined with certainty. Therefore, 

review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(l). Review is also warranted 

under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because whether the inability to quantify the 
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emotional benefits of a "healthy" child applies to a "defective" child is an 

issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. 

B. A New Trial is Required When a Jury is Asked to Impose 
Punitive Damages to Deter Future Conduct: RAP 13.4(b)(l) 
Conflict With Spokane Truck & Dray Co. v. Hoefer, 2 Wash. 45, 
25 P. 1072 (1891), Teter v. Deck, 174 Wn.2d 207, 226, 274 P.3d 
336 (2012), and Thomas v. French, 99 Wn.2d 95, 659 P.2d 1097 
(1983) & Issue of Substantial Public Interest Under RAP 
13.4(b)(4) 

"Since its earliest decisions, this court has consistently disapproved 

punitive damages as contrary to public policy." Dailey v. N Coast Life 

Ins. Co., 129 Wn.2d 572,575,919 P.2d 589 (1996) (citing Spokane Truck 

& Dray Co. v. Hoefer, 2 Wash. 45, 50-56, 25 P. 1072 (1891)). 

"Washington courts regard [punitive] damages as inappropriate in civil 

cases because they encroach upon criminal sanctions." Fluke Corp. v. 

Hartford Accident & Indem. Co., 145 Wn.2d 137, 143-44, 148, 34 P.3d 

809 (2001). 

The Court of Appeals in this case correctly determined that the 

trial court erred by allowing the Wuths' counsel to make arguments that 

constituted requests for punitive damages. Wuth, at **24-26. 15 Among 

15 "LabCorp argues that references to deterrence by the Wuths and 
Dr. Harding throughout closing arguments constituted improper requests 
for punitive damages. We agree that the argument was improper[.]" Wuth, 
at *24; id. at *26: "We agree with LabCorp that the trial court erred when 
it permitted counsel to discuss the issue of deterrence in closing 
argument." 
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other things, counsel said, "deterrence is important as a reminder that we 

can never elevate the business of medicine over the practice of medicine." 

!d. at *26. The Court of Appeals determined that this argument was 

"strikingly similar" to improper requests for punitive damages to '"make 

sure this never happens again."' !d. (quoting Broyles v. Thurston Cnty., 

147 Wn. App. 409,445 195 P.3d 985, 1003 (2008)). The discussions of 

deterrence included inflammatory anti-corporation fear mongering themes 

that were actively promoted throughout trial. 16 In rebuttal closing 

argument-which was the last thing the jury heard before it returned a 

verdict of $50 million-counsel reiterated: "Let me make clear where 

deterrence fits in this." RP 5417. 

"[A] court properly grants a new trial where (1) the conduct 

complained of is misconduct, (2) the misconduct is prejudicial, (3) the 

moving party objected to the misconduct at trial, and ( 4) the misconduct 

was not cured by the court's instructions." Teter v. Deck, 174 Wn.2d 207, 

226,274 P.3d 336 (2012) (citing Aluminum Co. of Am. v. Aetna Cas. & 

16 Profits and discussions about the corporatization of medicine at the 
expense of patient care were discussed by the Wuths' counsel throughout 
the trial. See, e.g., RP 4330 (trial judge's observation: "The contention 
that's been made to the jury, although it was not overt, is that Valley is 
profiting at the expense of adequate staffing."); RP 5312 (the Wuths' 
counsel: "[W]hen the business of medicine starts to become more 
important than the practice of medicine, that's when we, as a community, 
have to say that's not good enough."). 
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Sur. Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, 539, 998 P.2d 856 ("Alcoa") (addressing 

prejudicial "golden rule" arguments), clarified on denial of 

reconsideration, 756 P.2d 142 (2000). Where "there is no way to know 

what value the jury placed upon" the improper evidence or statements, a 

new trial is necessary. Thomas v. French, 99 Wn.2d 95, 104-05, 659 P.2d 

1097 (1983) (new trial necessary when prejudice is evident). 

Here, the impropriety of the deterrence discussion was established 

by the Court of Appeals and preservation of error is not in dispute. 

Deterrence has no place in a compensatory damages trial, and by 

reiterating the concept of deterrence in an instruction, the trial court 

compounded the issue, rather than cure it. 17 Addressing prejudice evident 

from the ongoing calls to punish is the $25 million verdict for Oliver, 

which exceeded the $20,628,306 sums requested based on evidence, 

especially considering this question from the jury: "Is there a cap on the 

award for Oliver or is it up to the jury's discretion to decide on the total 

amount?" CP 11721. On the parents' claim, after hearing equivocal 

testimony about the parents' emotions, the jury returned a "net loss" 

verdict of $25 million that matched sums awarded to Oliver, and was split 

17 The trial court instructed the jury about the role of deterrence in the civil 
law system (RP 5388-89), over the objections of the Wuths and LabCorp 
(RP 5383-85), thereby giving a false impression that there was a proper 
role for deterrence in this case. 
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50150 among the two corporate defendants despite the differing nature of 

the allegations made against each. The prejudice reflected in these "send-

a-message" verdicts is evident, and necessitates a new trial. 

The Court of Appeals in this case dismissed the improper 

deterrence comments as "harmless"18 based upon distinguishable attorney 

and prosecutorial misconduct cases. See Wuth, at *26 (citing Carnation 

Co., Inc. v. Hill, 115 Wn.2d 184, 186-87,796 P.2d 416 (1990) 19
). 

An issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by 

this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4) is whether Washington's robust

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