RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 23, 2015, 9:26 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 92353-1

L CRF

# SUPREME COURT RECEIPT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

OLIVER L. WUTH, a minor by and through his Guardian Ad Litem KEITH L. KESSLER; and BROCK M. WUTH and RHEA K. WUTH, husband and wife.

Respondents,

V.

LABORATORY CORPORATION OF AMERICA, a foreign corporation; DYNACARE LABORATORIES, INC., a foreign corporation; DYNACARE NORTHWEST, INC., a domestic corporation, d/b/a DYNACARE LABORATORIES, INC., a domestic corporation

#### Petitioner,

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

# III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. This Court should not revisit *Harbeson*, which in no way denigrates disabled plaintiffs; Division One's decision is wholly consistent with *McKernan*.

This Court authorized "an action based on an alleged breach of the duty of a health care provider to impart information or perform medical procedures with due care," resulting in "the birth of a child suffering congenital defects" in Harbeson v. Parke Davis, Inc., 98 Wn.2d 460, 467, 476, 656 P.2d 483 (1983). Harbeson and its progeny – including this Court's recent decision in *Stewart-Graves* v. Vaughn, 162 Wn.2d 115, 170 P.3d 1151 (2007) (a case LabCorp does not cite, much less address, in its petition for review) – require health care providers to competently perform genetic testing in order to respect parents' "right to reproductive autonomy." Stewart-Graves, 162 Wn.2d at 130, ¶28. This Court recognized in Stewart-Graves that "the duty of health care providers to provide nonnegligent prenatal counseling and medical care extends to children not yet conceived or born," as well as to their parents, without a hint that Harbeson's reasoning or holding was in question. 162 Wn.2d at 133, ¶33. There is no reason for this Court to revisit *Harbeson* in this case, where the Court of Appeals carefully and correctly affirmed a jury's verdict, reached after six weeks of trial, that LabCorp's negligence

caused a lifetime of medical expenses for severely disabled Oliver Wuth and a lifetime of emotional anguish for his parents.

As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, ¶44, this case does not conflict in any way with this Court's holding in *McKernan v. Aasheim*, 102 Wn.2d 411, 687 P.2d 850 (1984), that parents cannot recover the routine living expenses of raising a *healthy* child. (Petition 8-9) The claim in *McKernan* was based on the defendant's failure to perform a tubal ligation that would have prevented the plaintiff parents from becoming pregnant with a child who had no special or extraordinary economic needs; the trial court here refused to allow the jury to award damages prohibited by *McKernan*. (CP 2248) *McKernan* is fully consistent with, and does not call into question, the reasoning of *Harbeson*, and this case does not present grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Nor does the Court of Appeals decision present any issue justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Contrary to the personal views of the sole legal commentator relied upon by LabCorp that actions for medical negligence resulting in the birth of a child with genetic defects should not be allowed because "the choice of abortion contraconception by the parent" should not be "plausible" (Petition 6), Washington parents have the "right to prevent the birth of a

defective child." *Harbeson*, 98 Wn.2d at 472. As a consequence, health care providers have the duty to use reasonable care and "impart to their patients material information as to the likelihood of future children being born defective, to enable the potential parents to decide whether to avoid the conception *or birth* of such children." *Harbeson*, 98 Wn.2d at 472 (emphasis added).

This Court deliberately imposed this duty to "promote societal interests in genetic counseling and prenatal testing, deter medical malpractice, and at least partially redress a clear and undeniable wrong" in *Harbeson*, 98 Wn.2d at 473 (quotation and citation omitted). LabCorp urges this Court to accept review to abolish the tort recognized in *Harbeson* "in light of developments in medicine and genetic testing" (Petition 7), but it is those very advances in genetic testing that the Wuths and their doctors relied on LabCorp to competently perform. Advances in genetic testing, combined with the enduring rights of women and their partners to reproductive choice and the principles of tort law underlying *Harbeson*, make it more, not less, important for health care providers such as LabCorp to fulfill their duty of competence to allow parents to prevent the birth of children with identifiable genetic defects.

Providing Oliver the financial ability to meet his special medical and social needs and recompensing his parents for the heartbreak they did everything in their power to prevent in no way "disavow[s]' the value of life or in any way suggest[s] that the child is not entitled to the full measure of legal and nonlegal rights and privileges accorded to all members of society." *Harbeson*, 98 Wn.2d at 481 (quotation and citation omitted). If taken to its logical conclusion, LabCorp's argument that recognizing a tort cause of action for the consequences of its negligence somehow denigrates the disabled would foreclose an award of damages to any plaintiff disabled as a consequence of a defendant's negligence.

Regardless of the supposedly pejorative sobriquet by which LabCorp chooses to call it, the Wuths' negligence claim is firmly "rooted in the common law tradition." *Putnam v. Wenatchee Valley Medical Center*, *P.S.*, 166 Wn.2d 974, 982, ¶15, 216 P.3d 374 (2009). LabCorp fails to identify any principle of tort law or public policy that would be furthered by shifting the enormous financial burden of raising a special needs child to the parents (and ultimately to the State and its taxpayers) rather than imposing it upon the corporation whose negligence caused those damages. *See Harbeson*, 98 Wn.2d at 479 (burden of the extraordinary expenses associated with the

child's impairment should be placed "on the party whose negligence was in fact a proximate cause of the child's continuing need for such medical care and training," rather than "on the parents or the state"). The trial court, in denying LabCorp's request to set aside the verdict, and the Court of Appeals, in affirming that decision, ¶¶ 92-93, see also ¶¶ 52-54, correctly recognized that the jury fulfilled its constitutional role in awarding as damages the extraordinary expenses that Oliver will incur over his remaining 70-year life expectancy and in compensating his parents for their profound emotional distress. This Court should decline LabCorp's invitation to nullify the jury's verdict by overruling *Harbeson*.

# B. The Wuths did not ask for punitive damages at trial, and the Court of Appeals properly deferred to the trial court's assessment of claimed misconduct.

The Wuths did not ask for punitive damages at trial. As set out more fully in the Brief of Respondents at 51-53, the trial court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "[The Wuths] knew they . . . didn't want to have a disabled child who had the same abnormality that Mr. Wuth carried, and so they just did everything that they were supposed to do.

They went to their doctor, they went to Valley, they went to Dr. Harding, they brought all their information, they were timely, they were prepared, they followed up, and they prepared the way, with joy, for Oliver... And then they gave birth to a child who, from the moment that, as Mrs. Wuth said, as she looked into his eyes, she knew much was wrong, much was missing, and then they began the task of raising Oliver." (1/24/14 RP 68-69)

repeatedly prohibited any argument for punitive damages, or that the jury award damages to "send a message." (RP 198-99, 5254-55; 1/24/14 RP 51-52) The Wuths' counsel obeyed this restriction, arguing only that the tort system holds defendants accountable for two reasons - compensation and deterrence, while affirmatively acknowledging that "deterrence is not punishment." (RP 5257) The trial court sustained LabCorp's objection when the Wuths' counsel briefly mentioned deterrence in discussing damages. (RP 5308) When thereafter defendant Dr. Harding's counsel stated that the "purpose of damages, for compensation and deterrence . . . do not apply to Dr. Harding" (RP 5381), LabCorp asked for a curative instruction (not a mistrial). (RP 5383) The trial court then gave the curative instruction that LabCorp requested (RP 5385) - that "the purpose of damages . . . is to compensate" and that it is "not appropriate . . . to award damages in this case to deter specific defendants or to send some sort of message." (RP 5389)

LabCorp misrepresents this record in claiming that "[t]he Court of Appeals . . . determined that the trial court erred by allowing the Wuths' counsel to make arguments that constituted requests for punitive damages." (Petition 11) Again, the Wuths' counsel never asked for punitive damages. What the Court of Appeals said is that

the discussion of deterrence was "strikingly similar to an argument that we deemed improper in *Broyles v. Thurston Cty.*, 147 Wn. App. 409, 445, 195 P.3d 985 (2008)." ¶105. *Broyles* disapproved a closing argument asking the jury in an employment discrimination case to award "fair compensation" that would insure that what happened to plaintiffs "will never happen again," as "speak[ing] to future harm to the plaintiffs," but "not a clear call to the jury to impose punitive damages." 147 Wn. App. at 445, ¶75. And, as here, Division Two properly did not order a new trial in *Broyles*, deferring to the trial court's decision and affirming the jury's verdict.

The Wuths disagree with the Court of Appeals' decision that counsel's argument "presented a needless risk of confusing the jury," ¶105, or that it is improper to inform the jury in arguing liability of the policy of deterrence underlying tort law.<sup>3</sup> But the Court of Appeals was correct in deferring to the trial court's assessment of the consequence of this argument in denying a new trial under CR 59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Jurors should know the societal interests they fulfill. "[D]eterring negligence and compensating for injury" are the "underlying principles" of tort law. *Mohr v. Grantham*, 172 Wn.2d 844, 856, ¶20, 262 P.3d 490 (2011). An accurate statement about the policy underlying tort law is not improper argument. *See Miller v. Kenny*, 180 Wn. App. 772, 817, ¶109, 325 P.3d 278 (2014) ("appeal[] to the jurors' interest as members of the public to 'protect the public interest' and to enforce the public 'compact' that insurance companies have under the law . . . is not improper argument in a[n insurance] bad faith case.").

(1/24/14 RP 50-52) LabCorp essentially argues for de novo review of the trial court's decision on the effect of claimed misconduct during closing argument, and for a new trial as a matter of law if a defendant can characterize counsel's closing argument as a call for punitive damages. (Petition 13-14) To the contrary, the appellate courts defer to the trial court's favored position to determine within the context of the entire trial whether counsel engaged in misconduct and whether any misconduct so severely prejudiced the opposing party as to warrant a new trial. See Teter v. Deck, 174 Wn.2d 207, 215-16, \$15, 274 P.3d 336 (2012) (deferring to Judge (now Justice) Gonzalez's discretionary decision to grant a new trial based on misconduct of counsel and an error in law in excluding evidence) (Petition 12). Accord, ALCOA v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, 539, 998 P.2d 856 (2000).

The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with this Court's decision over a century ago establishing that Washington does not authorize the award of punitive damages absent statutory authority in *Spokane Truck & Dray Co. v. Hoefer*, 2 Wash. 45, 25 Pac. 1072 (1891) (Petition 11, 15). LabCorp has not cited a single case reversing judgment on a jury's verdict on the grounds that a closing argument that never mentions punishment or punitive damages

somehow violated that restriction, and LabCorp fails to identify any decision that is in conflict with the Court of Appeals' holding here that "Washington courts presume that juries follow all instructions given," including a prompt curative instruction. ¶106.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that LabCorp was required to show a "substantial likelihood" that any "misguided closing argument" affected the jury's verdict. ¶106; see Alcoa, 140 Wn.2d at 541; Carnation Co. v. Hill, 115 Wn.2d 184, 186, 796 P.2d 416 (1990); Broyles, 147 Wn. App. at 445, ¶75. Contrary to LabCorp's argument (Petition 14-15), this Court does not presume prejudice based upon an improper statement in closing argument that is promptly addressed by a curative instruction. See Carnation Co., 115 Wn.2d at 186; Freeman v. Intalco Aluminum Corp., 15 Wn. App. 677, 680-81, 552 P.2d 214 (1976); Kimball v. Otis Elevator Co., 89 Wn. App. 169, 178, 947 P.2d 1275 (1997).

LabCorp offers no reason to second-guess the Court of Appeals' deferral to the trial court's denial of a new trial based on claimed misconduct in closing argument that was not a "clear call" for punitive damages, that was immediately addressed by a curative instruction, and where the jury awarded damages supported by

substantial evidence. The lower courts' decisions do not raise any issues for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (4).

C. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's discretionary decision to strike LabCorp's unqualified expert from testifying at trial under ER 702 and 703.

The trial court properly exercised its discretion under ER 702 and 703 to exclude LabCorp's gynecologist Dr. London on the ground that he was not qualified by experience or training to testify to the standard of care of a maternal fetal medicine physician with respect to genetic testing, and that his opinion lacked a proper factual basis. LabCorp casts as a violation of due process its claim before the Court of Appeals of "procedural irregularities" in the trial court's decision. (Petition 15; LabCorp Br. 9, 25;) But LabCorp had plenty of notice and was repeatedly heard, after substantial briefing and argument, on the issue both before and after the trial court exercised its discretion to exclude LabCorp's expert under ER 702 and 703. The Court of Appeals' affirmance of that discretionary decision raises no issues for review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (3).

The procedural facts are, once again, not as represented by LabCorp. As explained in more detail in the Brief of Respondents at 72-75, defendant Dr. Harding sought to exclude Dr. London from testifying under ER 702 and 703 in April 2013, five months before he

and the Wuths entered into a high-low agreement on the eve of the October 2013 trial. (CP 2459-72, 13650, 14277-80, 14290) Before the trial court ruled on that motion, LabCorp in June 2013 relied upon Dr. London's opinion in response to Dr. Harding's motion for summary judgment, which sought dismissal of all but one of the Wuths' claims against him. (CP 2604, 2736) In his summary judgment reply, Dr. Harding renewed his objection to Dr. London's expert testimony, arguing that Dr. London did not have the qualifications to testify to the standard of care for a perinatologist working with genetic counselors. (CP 2907-10, 2915) As the Court of Appeals recognized, ¶65, although LabCorp defended the qualifications and opinions of another expert upon whom it relied (CP 3083-85), LabCorp made no attempt to support Dr. London's qualifications "until the matter was heard on oral argument," ¶65, when the trial court found that Dr. London "doesn't have anywhere near the expertise that would be needed in this specific case" (7/18/13 RP 46) and granted Dr. Harding's motion to strike Dr. London as a witness. (CP 3141)

At the trial court's invitation (7/18/13 RP 48; CP 3141), LabCorp moved to reconsider the July 18, 2013 order preventing Dr. London "from offering opinions at trial." (CP 3151-55) LabCorp then

let the discovery deadline pass, six weeks later, without designating a new expert. (CP 14290) Dr. Harding's renewal of his motions in limine while LabCorp's motion for reconsideration was pending gave LabCorp yet another opportunity to brief the issue. (CP 6356-62, 7494-96) The trial court then denied reconsideration (CP 6383-85) and granted Dr. Harding's motion in limine. (CP 11751-54) LabCorp's claim that these evidentiary and trial management decisions violated its due process rights ignores the abundant notice and repeated opportunities it was given to be heard on this issue, both before and after the trial court ruled. The Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's exercise of discretion raises no grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

LabCorp also asserts that this case raises the issue whether the appellate courts should review de novo a trial court's exclusion of expert testimony on summary judgment. (Petition 15) But the trial court partially denied summary judgment, allowing LabCorp to allege Dr. Harding's fault at trial under the theory for which there was competent expert testimony – that Dr. Harding breached the standard of care if the jury found that he did not direct Valley Medical's medical assistant to send to LabCorp the genetic testing report that would have assisted LabCorp in looking for the

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